

Ψηφιακή Βιβλιοθήκη

για τις ΑΝΘΡΩΠΙΣΤΙΚΕΣ ΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΕΣ

CENTRE for the HUMANITIES

KENTPO EPEYNAZ

RESEARCH





Olga Evangelidou

"Coloured Stones" and Other Sartorial Details on the Eve of the Greek Revolution

Όλγα Ευαγγελίδου «Χρωματιστά πετράδια» και άλλα ενδυματολογικά στοιχεία κατά τις παραμονές της Ελληνικής Επανάστασης





Digital Library

"Coloured Stones" and Other Sartorial Details on the Eve of the Greek Revolution

Olga Evangelidou

https://doi.org/10.12681/rch.183

© RCH Digital Library 2023

DIGITAL CO-PUBLISHER National Documentation Center (https://ebooks.epublishing.ekt.gr/index.php/rch)

COPY-EDITING Andrew Watson PROOFREADING Orestis Georgalas SERIES GRAPHICS & COVER DESIGN Evi Kalogeropoulou E-PUBLISHING INFRASTRUCTURE Giorgos Regkoukos COORDINATOR Athena Bozika COVER ART Olga Evangelidou Coloured Stones, 2020

Scientific Committee

Ada Dialla Professor of Modern and Contemporary European History, Department of Art Theory & History, Athens School of Fine Arts Maro Germanou Professor Emerita of English Literature, Department of English Language & Literature, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Eleni Gousti-Stambogli Historian, Publisher Kallirroe Linardou Assistant Professor in Byzantine & Medieval Art, Department of Art Theory & History, Athens School of Fine Arts Myrto Malouta Assistant Professor in Greek Papyrology, Department of Archives, Library Science & Museology, Ionian University

ISBN 978-618-86496-1-3 www.rchumanities.gr

The publication series **1821 Digital Library** is part of the research project **1821 Digital Archive**, which was implemented throughout 2016 - 2021.

1821.digitalarchive.gr



Ψηφιαχή Βιβλιοθήχη

«Χρωματιστά πετράδια» και άλλα ενδυματολογικά στοιχεία κατά τις παραμονές της Ελληνικής Επανάστασης

Όλγα Ευαγγελίδου

https://doi.org/10.12681/rch.183

© Ψηφιακή Βιβλιοθήκη ΚΕΑΕ 2023

ΨΗΦΙΑΚΟΣ ΣΥΝΕΚΔΟΤΗΣ Εθνικό Κέντρο Τεκμηρίωσης (https://ebooks.epublishing.ekt.gr/index.php/rch)

ΕΠΙΜΕΛΕΙΑ ΚΕΙΜΕΝΩΝ Andrew Watson ΤΥΠΟΓΡΑΦΙΚΗ ΔΙΟΡΘΩΣΗ Ορέστης Γεωργαλάς ΓΡΑΦΙΣΤΙΚΗ ΕΠΙΜΕΛΕΙΑ ΣΕΙΡΑΣ & ΣΧΕΔΙΑΣΜΟΣ ΕΞΩΦΥΛΛΟΥ Εύη Καλογεροπούλου

ΨΗΦΙΑΚΗ ΕΚΔΟΤΙΚΗ ΥΠΟΔΟΜΗ

Γιώργος Ρεγκούκος

εγντονιεμος Αθηνά Μποζίκα ΕΙΚΑΣΤΙΚΟ ΕΞΩΦΥΛΛΟΥ Όλγα Ευαγγελίδου Χρωματιστά πετράδια, 2020

Επιστημονική Επιτροπή

Άντα Διάλλα Καθηγήτρια Νεότερης και Σύγχρονης Ευρωπαϊκής Ιστορίας, Τμήμα Θεωρίας και Ιστορίας της Τέχνης, Ανώτατη Σχολή Καλών Τεχνών **Μάρω Γερμανού** Ομότιμη Καθηγήτρια Αγγλικής Λογοτεχνίας, Τμήμα Αγγλικής Γλώσσας και Φιλολογίας, Εθνικό και Καποδιστριακό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών **Ελένη Γούστη-Σταμπόγλη** Ιστορικός, Εκδότρια **Καλλιρρόη Λινάρδου** Επίκουρη Καθηγήτρια Ιστορίας της Τέχνης του Βυζαντίου και του Δυτικού Μεσαίωνα, Τμήμα Θεωρίας και Ιστορίας της Τέχνης, Ανώτατη Σχολή Καλών Τεχνών **Μυρτώ Μαλούτα** Επίκουρη Καθηγήτρια Ελληνικής Παπυρολογίας, Τμήμα Αρχειονομίας, Βιβλιοθηκονομίας και Μουσειολογίας, Ιόνιο Πανεπιστήμιο

ISBN 978-618-86496-1-3 www.rchumanities.gr

Οι εκδόσεις της σειράς Ψηφιακή Βιβλιοθήκη 1821 αποτελούν μέρος του ερευνητικού προγράμματος Ψηφιακό Αρχείο 1821, που εκπονήθηκε από το 2016 έως το 2021.

1821.digitalarchive.gr

Contents

List of Figures	5
"Coloured Stones" and Other Sartorial Details on the Eve of the Greek Revolution	6
The "translation" of the linguistic sources into drawings	7
The descriptions	8
Headpiece and shawl	9
Camisole	9
Vest and waistcoat	10
Gown and robe	12
Sash	14
Mantle	15
Jewel	17
Stackelberg's engraving and the costume from the Historical	
and National Museum	17
The fabrics	20
Conclusion	21
Endnotes	23
Bibliography	27

Περίληψη

«Χρωματιστά πετράδια» και άλλα ενδυματολογικά στοιχεία κατά τις παραμονές	
της Ελληνικής Επανάστασης	30



List of Figures

- Figure 1. Olga Evangelidou, *Shirt*, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 2. Olga Evangelidou, *Vest*, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 3. Olga Evangelidou, *Waistcoat*, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 4. Olga Evangelidou, *Robe or gown*, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 5. Olga Evangelidou, *Robe or gown*, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 6. Olga Evangelidou, Sash, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 7. Olga Evangelidou, *Mantle*, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 8. Olga Evangelidou, *Mantle*, pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 9. Olga Evangelidou, *Colour Palette*, gouache on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- Figure 10. Olga Evangelidou, *Hair*, colour pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.
- **Figure 11.** Olga Evangelidou, *Coloured Stones*, colour pencil on paper, 21 x 29,7 cm, 2020.



"Coloured Stones" and Other Sartorial Details on the Eve of the Greek Revolution*

"They wear a tight, high camisole of red silk and gold, buttoned with coloured stones across the breast."¹ This sartorial detail is mentioned, among others, by the traveller John B. Sawrey Morritt (1772–1843) of Rokeby Hall in Yorkshire, with reference to the dress of women in the Mani at the end of the 18th century. Even if it is a detail of a sartorial trend of that time, it is one of those elements that, together with other details, may help in painting a picture of customs of dress and relationships between individuals from a time when much evidence about dress is lacking. Indeed, his descriptions are more akin to a cryptic code, referring to the materials, the designs, and the ways of manufacture of the garments, which needs to be decoded. This article will use Morritt's descriptions of female attire among the Maniot upper classes, comparing their sartorial customs with descriptions given by other travellers, 18th-century dresses preserved in museums, travellers' engravings, and Maniot dowry papers or marriage contracts from that period. Lastly, the article will present drawings as a hypothesis for analysis and interpretation of the garments described.

Firstly, let us establish the significance of certain terms used in this research. The term "dress" refers—besides clothing—to accessories, hairstyle, make-up, and everything that is connected to a person's appearance.² "Dress" serves both a practical and a symbolic function.³ It is usually dictated by standards of beauty and interwoven with everyday life. In contrast, "fashion" is a controversial term associated generally with European dress. Some historians of dress have claimed that fashion began in Europe in the middle of the 14th century.⁴ Others have claimed that fashion is a phenomenon that only appeared in the second half of the 19th century, when industrially produced clothing was already widespread.⁵ On the other hand, certain experts define fashion as a change in the style of dress and appearance adopted by a certain group of people at any time or place.⁶ Most scholars agree that there is a distinction between "fashion" as a Western European phenomenon and "dress" as worn in the rest of the world. As a result, 18th- and early 19th-century dress in the Greek world is characterized as being regional or local and linked to tradition.

Nevertheless, there are differing ways in which fashion and traditional dress are perceived. For example, Sandra Niessen and Jennifer Craik consider it to be elitist and Eurocentric to characterize fashion as a Western cultural phenomenon



and to refer to attire that changes at slower paces as "traditional." Niessen points out that "[c]hange occurs in all cultures, so why not consider non-Western dress in terms of fashion as well?" in her article "Re-orienting Fashion Theory."⁷ Craik and Niessen's view influenced my own approach to the study of dress of the prerevolutionary and revolutionary period in the Greek world. The topic will be addressed according to their understanding of fashion, attempting to avoid the terms "tradition" and "traditional costume." As Elizabeth Wilson writes, "our understanding of past fashions or dress, as of the past generally, is filtered through our own preoccupations and ideologies" and, consequently, it is difficult to escape subjectivity completely.⁸

Drawing on Morritt's descriptions of the region of the Mani made in 1795, I will create drawings as hypothetical interpretations. In his descriptions, Morritt refers to sartorial elements such as the "Polonese mantle." This reference is crucial to my own study, as it may reveal Morritt's own views of dress and not the actual dress of women in the Mani at that time. A similar thing happened with engravers at that time who were instructed by the travellers to create images of the people and their dress.⁹ Aesthetic criteria and the values of the period were supplemented with the artists' personal views. As a result, the reliability of those artworks in which garments are depicted is disputed. Thus, our ideas of the dress worn by the "Greek Revolutionaries" are mostly second-hand. Beyond visual sources, the written/documented ones are subjective in a way that influences the image we create. Consequently, these sources could themselves be interpretations of this "reality."

The "translation" of the linguistic sources into drawings

The garments Morritt saw worn by the Maniot women were "translated" into words which shape images in our minds. Through this research the words of Morritt can be "transfigured" into drawings depicting the garments. These "interpretations" may reveal some of the elements of the garments described. Each sartorial term will be "translated" into multiple interpretations of drawings based on other visual sources related to the words. The more specific the description is, the more precise the drawing becomes. This procedure of creating diverse images of the garments will give the viewer the opportunity to mentally reconstruct the information given in these drawings and form a more general idea. There might be a difference between the late 18th- and early 19th-century dress and the information that has been preserved: documents, engravings, garments. But, despite this possible discrepancy, they would give a glimpse of "reality" from the past.



The descriptions

The two extracts from Morritt's letters which refer to the dresses of Maniot women are quoted below. In his letter from Cardamyla, he describes:

I left off here to talk with our friends, and resume my letter here, if possible still more pleased with the Mainotes. The lady's castle was really enchantment; her uncle, a hearty, fine old man, dined and supped with us, and we were waited on by beautiful girls, in the true mode of patriarchal times. He lived in one tower with four daughters and his wife. Two of his daughters were children, and visited us – they were beautiful beyond measure; and of his older daughters one was, I think, the handsomest woman I ever saw. To give you some idea of their style of dress: On their heads is a plain small circle, either of shawl worked with gold or, sometimes, a red or green velvet cap embroidered round with gold, forming a coronet. Over this floats a long veil of white embroidered muslin. One end hangs over their right shoulder behind, and the other, hanging loose across their breast, is thrown also over the right shoulder. They wear a tight, high camisole of red silk and gold, buttoned with coloured stones across the breast. A short waistcoat, which is cut quite low, and clasps tight round their waist, is made of muslin and gold, with small globe buttons. A red sash and long flowing robes of white muslin and gold are below. Over these they wear a red, green, or light-blue silk gown, cut straight, and entirely open before, embroidered in the richest manner, the long sleeves sometimes of different colours. In their neck are rows of gold chains in the English mode exactly. They do not wear trousers so low as the women in the other parts of Turkey. This is chiefly the description of the lady of the house; you will suppose the colours are varied for different tastes and different ranks. The contour of the dress is much the same, and as the women are naturally lovely, with complexions you would suppose born in the coldest of climates, you may imagine the place, and will conceive how we regretted leaving our lodging.¹⁰

In another extract he describes a woman in Kitries in the Mani:

The capitanessa wore a light blue shawl-gown, embroidered with gold; a sash tied loosely round her waist; and a short vest without sleeves of embroidered crimson velvet. Over these was a dark green velvet Polonese mantle, with wide and open sleeves, also richly embroidered with gold, and appearing like a coronet, and a white and gold muslin shawl fixed on the right shoulder, and passed across her bosom under the left arm floated over the coronet and hung to the ground behind her.¹¹

The information given in these descriptions will be analyzed and the clothing of the Maniot women examined with regard to the design of the garments.



Headpiece and shawl

In his two descriptions, Morritt refers to a headpiece and the way a shawl was worn:

On their heads is a plain small circle, either of shawl worked with gold or, sometimes, a red or green velvet cap embroidered round with gold, forming a coronet. Over this floats a long veil of white embroidered muslin. One end hangs over their right shoulder behind, and the other, hanging loose across their breast, is thrown also over the right shoulder.¹²

[...] and appearing like a coronet, and a white and gold muslin shawl fixed on the right shoulder, and passed across her bosom under the left arm floated over the coronet and hung to the ground behind her.¹³

In Stackelberg's engraving, *Femme de la Maina*, from 1828, it seems as if there is a way of binding the head which is reminiscent of Morritt's description, as is the coronet that is mentioned in both extracts.¹⁴ In addition, the way the shawl is "fixed on the right shoulder and passed across her bosom under the left arm" is likewise found in Eastern dress.¹⁵ The engraving of the early 19th century of Castellan, depicts the women of Psara (Spra) wearing the shawl in this peculiar and flamboyant way.¹⁶ In addition, in the drawing from *Zenanname* we can see a woman wearing two shawls, one wrapped around her waist, with the other placed over her shoulder.¹⁷ Furthermore, Ackermann's *Repository* of 1809 depicts an Englishwoman with a shawl.¹⁸ In the image, the distinctive way the woman wears the shawl could be influenced by Eastern fashion, as it has similarities with Morritt's description.

Camisole

Another important element in the description is the camisole, a kind of shirt: "They wear a tight, high camisole of red silk and gold, buttoned with coloured stones across the breast." According to the *Dictionary of Fashion and Fashion Designers*, "camisole is an item of underwear introduced during the early 19th century and based on a loose, sleeveless bodice or chemise."¹⁹ The camisole, chemise or shirt is a characteristic type of dress in many styles and seems to have been worn underneath other garments.²⁰ The 18th-century shirt which is part of the dress of Kyra-Frosini and belongs to the collection of the Historical and National Museum of Greece, is referred to as being made of silk; it could be similar in shape, except for the buttons, to the red silk camisole.²¹ The "coloured stones" used as buttons could





Figure 1. Olga Evangelidou, Shirt

be a different kind of gemstone popular in the Ottoman empire, which was known for its jewelry. The closures of the coat in a 16th-century portrait of Sultan Murad III were jeweled buttons.²² The caftans of Sultan Ibrahim in the 17th century had diamond buttons as well.²³ Therefore, it was very popular after the 16th century for members of the Ottoman court to have gemstones in their buttons. This might mean that the "capitanessa," whose shirt with its bejeweled buttons is mentioned by the traveller, was influenced by the prevailing fashion of that time (**Figure 1**).

Vest and waistcoat

Ottoman influence in fashion is attested to by the words "vest" or "waistcoat," as used by Morritt. The "short vest without sleeves of embroidered crimson velvet" is probably a kind of short *yelek*, as it is called in Turkish.²⁴ Examples of vests or waistcoats (*yelek*) are found in the Historical and National Museum of Greece from places such as Psara or Ioannina.²⁵ Also, the "short waistcoat, which is cut quite low, and clasps tight round their waist, is made of muslin and gold, with small globe buttons," mentioned in other descriptions by Morritt could be seen as another version



1821.digitalarchive.gr/library



Figure 2. Olga Evangelidou, Vest



Figure 3. Olga Evangelidou, Waistcoat



of a short vest/waistcoat, which is mostly tight around the waist but usually has sleeves, and in Greek is referred to as *kontogouni* (*kovtoyoúvi*).²⁶ The *kontogouni* was popular at the end of 18th and in the early 19th centuries. It is mentioned in documents, such as marriage contracts, from some Aegean islands.²⁷ After the arrival of Queen Amalia in Greece in 1837, a type of *kontogouni* would become a fashionable item in the style of dress that she established.²⁸ But the vest and waistcoat that are mentioned here, years before 1837, might have had a different design from the *kontogouni* that Amalia made fashionable at the end of the 1830s. They may also have been influenced by the Ottoman *cepken*, which was "a kind of short jacket with long sleeves and open front" (**Figure 2** and **Figure 3**).²⁹

Gown and robe

A "light blue shawl-gown, embroidered with gold."³⁰ The words "shawl" and "gown" have quite distinct meanings when referred to separately, but their combined use here as a single term tells us something about its design. For example, the item in the Victoria and Albert Museum collection in London is described as a gown made of shawls, which was common in the late 1790s.³¹ It was popular in England to wear and manufacture shawls. The gown in the Victoria and Albert Museum consisted of two shawls sewn together in order to form the front and back of the dress. The shape or the details of the construction of the dress might be similar to those referred to by the traveller. He might have been familiar with that fashion from England as he comes from there. Nevertheless, Morritt might have used the word "shawl" to describe the fabric of the gown rather than its design. The "shawl-gown," which was light blue and embroidered with gold, might have been made from a known fabric also used for shawls.

In another passage, he also writes as follows:

[...] long flowing robes of white muslin and gold are below. Over these they wear a red, green, or light-blue silk gown, cut straight, and entirely open before, embroidered in the richest manner, the long sleeves sometimes of different colours.³²

The flowing robes and the open silk gown might have similarities with the dress referred to as a "shawl-gown," given that it was also light blue and embroidered (Figure 4 and Figure 5).





Figure 4. Olga Evangelidou, Robe or gown



Figure 5. Olga Evangelidou, Robe or gown



Sash

In both passages Morritt uses the term "sash": "A red sash" and "a sash tied loosely round her waist."³³ According to *Fairchild's Dictionary of Fashion*, "sash" refers to "any belt of soft material that loops over knots, or ties in a bow rather than bucking."³⁴ The description "tied loosely round her waist," could have been inspired by the loose tightening of the sash in Ottoman fashion.³⁵ Charlotte Jisourek mentions the fundamental elements of Turkish dress and writes, among others, that the sashes were used as closures for garments or as receptacles for personal objects.³⁶ Although there were sartorial laws that distinguished the dress worn by Turks from other subjects of the Ottoman Empire in public, Christian and Jewish women would dress almost identically to Muslims.³⁷ Besides, as Zilfi points out, "[a]lthough some elements of Muslim and non-Muslim women's dress had always differed, women had in many ways constituted a single sartorial unit."³⁸ Thus, we can assume that on the eve of the Greek Revolution there were sartorial customs inspired by Ottoman fashions of that time (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Olga Evangelidou, Sash



Mantle

Maybe the most interesting part of this description is the reference to the "Polonese mantle": "[O]ver these was a dark green velvet Polonese mantle, with wide and open sleeves, also richly embroidered with gold."³⁹ The term "Polonese mantle" may be interpreted in different ways. Firstly, "Polonese" might mean the *robe* à *la polonaise* which was a very popular type of dress in Western Europe in the late 18th century.⁴⁰ The *robe* à *la polonaise*

was distinguished by the robe cut without waist seam and inverted "V" front opening. It was probably derived from the Polish robe called "kontusz", as well as the looped-up skirts of the robe à la française. Contemporaries regarded it as a more "natural" style of dress in line with the Enlightenment, and it was thought to be most appropriate for wear by middle and upper-class women [...] The style featured revivals in the 1790s and late nineteenth century.⁴¹

The *kontusz* was a popular item of male attire worn by Polish noblemen in the 17th century, which had its origins in Turkey.⁴² In England, the robe à la polonaise was developed in a simpler style with the name "mantua," worn open in front.⁴³ At that time, dress took its name from particular regions or places; for example, the robe à la française, the English manteau, etc.⁴⁴ Although in France, after the marriage of Louis XV to the Polish Marie Leczinska, there was a new interest in, and adoption of, Polish fashions, it is believed that the *polonaise* itself did not originate from Poland.⁴⁵ The main inspiration for the *polonaise* was the *kontusz*, a coat that was inspired by the Turkish caftan. From as early as the 17th century, Ottoman fashion was very popular among the Polish nobility, whose attire was believed by other Europeans to have a mixture of those European and Asian styles which impressed them.⁴⁶ The noblemen were generally influenced by designs in the eastern style. Even though in the second half of the 18th century the *zupan* tunic and *kontusz* were not so popular, women would wear feminized versions of these items of dress.⁴⁷ Variations of the *polonaise*, such as the *robe* à *la turque* came into fashion in Western Europe at the end of the 1780s.⁴⁸ In addition, as Van Cleave and Welborn claim: "Eighteenth-century sources generally used the terms vest/waistcoat or stomacher when referring to the bodice layer worn underneath the polonaise."49 There is similar information about an undervest given in Morritt's descriptions (Figure 7 and Figure 8).

All of the above indicate that the *polonaise* dress/mantle originated chiefly from Polish male attire, which was in turn inspired by Ottoman and Turkish dress. In addition, the once-fashionable *robe* à *la turque* may also have been a variation of





Figure 7. Olga Evangelidou, Mantle



Figure 8. Olga Evangelidou, Mantle



the "Polonese mantle." Consequently, Morritt might have recognized the garment he saw in the Mani as the *polonaise*. The mantle in the description is made of velvet and embroidered with gold, a popular fashion in the Ottoman Empire.⁵⁰ Moreover, the fabrics reveal the social status of the wearer, the gold embroidered velvet was a very expensive fabric from Bursa, already since the 15th century.⁵¹ And as Tezcan points out when referring to the furs, "[a]way from Istanbul, in the depth of the provinces, notables both Muslim and non-Muslim probably displayed wealth and status in a similar fashion."⁵² Thus, "fashion," as referred to below, relates not only to the design, but also to the fabrics, styles, embroideries and other sartorial details. Lastly, the *polonaise* mantle might have similarities with the pelisse from Patras, worn over the vest and made of richly embroidered white silk, as Williams observed in 1820.⁵³

Jewel

Last but not least, Morritt describes the jewels he witnessed on his travels: "In their neck are rows of gold chains in the English mode exactly." The Maniot women may have worn chains similar to those worn in Georgian England. It is indeed possible that the jewel worn by the "capitanessa" in the Mani might have had its origins in English fashion or else it might have been a different version of a chain similar to those found in England.

Stackelberg's engraving and the costume from the Historical and National Museum

Stackelberg's engraving of the women of Mani (Maina) and the costume in the museum seem to have many characteristics in common.⁵⁴ At first the garments in Morritt's description seem to differ, but in fact one can detect common features among them. The museum collection catalogue states that it is a rare item of 18th-century dress.⁵⁵ It consists of a white cotton shirt, made on a loom and embroidered. Stackelberg's engraving and the 18th-century Maniot dress have similarities in the design of the dress and the volume of the sleeves, as well as other details, such as the reddish fabric in the lower part of the dress.⁵⁶

It is quite obvious, as Morritt mentioned, that his descriptions refer to upperclass women from the region, which explains why they used expensive fabrics such



as velvet, embroidered with gold, silk, or other materials. Both the engraving and the dress in the museum include a shawl. The description also includes a shawl, which is mentioned above and appears to have been a common fashion item in the Ottoman empire. In addition, the shirt in the museum, which was made on a loom, was probably the product of a cottage industry, and the wearer might also have been its maker. Nevertheless, the attire of the "capitanessa" seems to have been inspired by fashions that were popular in many different parts of the Ottoman Empire. It is also possible that there were some similarities with the dress of Kyra-Frosini, as regards the fabric and the embroidered golden thread.⁵⁷ In the case of the "capitanessa" the fabrics were probably not produced by a cottage industry but must have been made by experts. Turner refers to the poor Makri sisters in Athens in 1820, who did embroidery work.⁵⁸

Furthermore, an examination of a small sample of marriage contracts / dowry papers from the Mani suggests that the colours mentioned in comparison to the engraving, the attire in the museum, and Morritt's description have similarities.⁵⁹ The following colours are mentioned in a sample of five marriage contracts in the Mani between 1783 and 1826: red ($\dot{a}\lambda i\kappa o$) and crimson, different kinds of



Figure 9. Olga Evangelidou, Colour Palette



green (clear, dark), white, multicoloured ($\delta i \dot{a} v v o$), yellow, light blue and darker blue (light blue mixed with black/grey-blue).⁶⁰ In Morritt's description the colours mentioned are almost all the same, however, there are references to gold colour which constitute the details, the buttons or the jewels. Lastly, the colours of the real garment of the 18th century from the Historical and Ethnological Museum of Mani are dark blue, red and white, while the embroideries are made of red thread (**Figure 9**).

Thus, while there are some common colours, there are also differences which are probably due to social status or changes that might have taken place over time. In addition, the selection of clothing and colours of the fabrics might have been influenced by personal taste. As Faroqhi points out, Neumann observed in his research differences between the clothing of two 18th-century viziers which might have been the result of personal preference or taste.⁶¹ Selecting clothes according to personal taste might have been the privilege of the Ottoman upper classes, but it could also have been an option for other social groups. According to Faroqhi, the appearance of Christian and Jewish women was quite similar to that of Muslims and the sartorial regulations in the Ottoman empire were only imposed in public places.⁶²

In Morritt's descriptions the dresses of women are indoor wear; it seems that these women did "not wear trousers as in the other parts of Turkey." They might have worn trousers outdoors and some might even have had the opportunity to choose their attire according to their personal taste. Morritt writes: "[Y]ou will suppose the colours are varied for different tastes and different ranks," which might support this hypothesis. They might have chosen what they wanted to wear according to social status. The "trickle-down theory," which states that fashions are "spread from upper to lower classes," could possibly explain many aspects of life at that time.⁶³ As far as the colours of fabrics in the Ottoman Empire are concerned, the most vivid were used by the 18th-century elite, while more subdued colours were for the less well-off customers.⁶⁴ The colour green, which was mentioned both in dowry papers and in Morritt's description, was, according to sartorial regulations, to be worn exclusively by Muslims.⁶⁵ Consequently, colours and fabrics were related to the wearer's social status. Morritt, referring to the men in the Mani, observes that "[t]he dress of the lower orders is in the same form, with the necessary variations in the quality of the materials and absence of the ornaments." From another point of view, since it was forbidden to wear green outdoors, women might have chosen to wear it indoors, as the sartorial regulations only applied in public.⁶⁶ Thus, the garment exhibited in the museum could have been worn by a woman who was not necessarily part of the Maniot upper class.



The fabrics

The fabrics in Morritt's descriptions are velvet, a fabric embroidered with gold, a fabric embroidered in the richest manner, silk, and muslin. Velvet was already very popular in the Ottoman court from the 15th century, when different kinds of velvet were available.⁶⁷ This also provides further evidence for the high social status of the woman in the description, since fabrics such as cotton were probably used by the lower classes. Sibthorp mentions, in relation to the raw materials of the fabrics, that cotton was cultivated in the Mani and silkworms were fed on the leaves of mulberry trees.⁶⁸

Lastly, regarding standards of beauty, Williams refers to the dyed hair of a woman in Patras, observing that red hair was very popular at that time.⁶⁹ Morritt also states that the most common colour of women's hair was brown or auburn, which might have been influenced by prevailing ideas of beauty.⁷⁰ In every period fashion has always been linked to concepts of beauty. Morritt describes the women of the Mani as "beautiful beyond measure and among them was the handsomest woman I ever saw." This description provides subjectivity but at the same time discloses the values related to beauty standards of that period and romantic ideas as recorded by the European travellers (**Figure 10**).⁷¹



Figure 10. Olga Evangelidou, Hair

Conclusion

In conclusion, it can be affirmed that the dress of the late 18th and early 19th century was related to the cultural environment of its time. The sartorial elements mentioned above seem to have been influenced by prevailing Ottoman fashions as well as Western trends, for the fashions of the Ottoman court in the 18th century were influenced by European textiles and clothing.⁷² In addition, the idea of beauty presented by the travellers might have been shaped by their own perspectives. Morritt describes the clothing of the beautiful women of the Maniot upper class in great detail. They might have shared elements similar to those of the upper classes in other regions of the Ottoman Empire. At the same time, their dresses might have been different from those of women belonging to the lower classes of the region of Mani. The view of beauty, as stated by the traveller, could be a matter of subjectivity but at the same time it might have indicated the standards of beauty prevailing in Western Europe. In a letter written to his sister in 1794, Morritt described the dress of a Wallachian lady with many details which suggest that he was well-informed about the fashions of that time in both the West and the East.73

Moreover, it seems as if Western influence on Eastern fashions of the time was a precursor of the later dominance of European fashion in the Ottoman empire, not only in Greek areas. In any case, distinctions between the classes seem to have existed in the Mani, given that fashion was linked to the social strata.⁷⁴ These distinctions can be observed in the colours, the fabrics and the designs of the garments. At the same time, there were similarities that might have been related to the phenomenon of imitation or mimicry which can be detected in many social groups.⁷⁵ Regarding the Ottoman *firmans*, non-Muslims had always tried to evade the sartorial regulations. That was probably a result of people's desire to belong to another social group by imitating its sartorial customs.⁷⁶ Mimicry is an inevitable aspect of fashion, which is itself a phenomenon that involves cultural exchange. There are various ideas about how women dressed in the end of the 18th and early 19th century in the Mani, based on actual dresses that have been preserved, engravings, records, descriptions, and marriage contracts, along with multiple versions in drawings. All these sartorial elements and details, such as coloured stones, with their infinite variations, cannot give us a definitive image of the entirety of the female dress. Nevertheless, they do indicate the sartorial habits of the women in the Mani on the eve of the Greek Revolution (Figure 11).





Figure 11. Olga Evangelidou, Coloured Stones



Endnotes

- * I am very grateful to Ada Dialla, professor of European History at the Department of Theory and History of Art in the Athens School of Fine Arts and supervisor of my PhD thesis for her valuable advice and her trust in me. I would also like to thank Persa Koumoutsi for her contribution in editing the English text. The present article is based on the archival material digitized in the context of my collaboration with the "1821 Digital Archive" of the Research Centre for the Humanities (2017–2019). In addition, the article shares some principal ideas with my PhD thesis, which was completed at the Department of the Theory and History of Art of the Athens School of Fine Arts, and focuses on the history of dress and the beauty standards in the late 18th and early 19th century in the islands of the Aegean Sea. Since 2019 the research work has been supported by the Hellenic Foundation for Research and Innovation (HFRI) under the HFRI PhD Fellowship grant (Fellowship Number: 215).
- 1. George Eden Marindin, ed., *The Letters of John B. S. Morritt of Rokeby: Descriptive of Journeys in Europe and Asia Minor in the Years 1794–1796* (London: J. Murray, 1914), 201–02.
- 2. Blanche Payne, Geitel Winakor, and Jane Farell-Beck, eds., *Endimatologia: Istoria tis endimasias*, trans. Ruddy Pagida, 2nd ed. (Athens: Ion, 2009), 11; original title: *The History of Costume: From the Ancient Mesopotamians through the Twentieth Century*, 2nd ed. (New York: Pearson, 1992).
- 3. Ibid., 13.
- 4. Linda Welters, "Introduction," in *The Fashion Reader*, ed. Linda Welters and Abby Lillethun, 2nd ed. (Oxford: Berg, 2011), 3.
- 5. Ibid., xxvii.
- 6. Ibid., xxviii.
- 7. Sandra Niessen, "Re-Orienting Fashion Theory," in *The Fashion Reader*, ed. Linda Welters and Abby Lillethun, 2nd ed., 150–55, quoted in Welters, "Introduction," xxviii.
- 8. Elizabeth Wilson, Adorned in Dreams: Fashion and Modernity (London: Tauris, 2003), 21.
- 9. Fani-Maria Tsigakou, "Greek Costumes in Printed Representations: A Dialogue between Fact and Fantasy," in *Greek Costume: Printed Sources, 16th–20th Centuries from the J.D. Koilalous Collection,* ed. Leonora Navari (Athens: Benaki Museum, 2006), 26.
- 10. Marindin, The Letters of John B. S. Morritt of Rokeby, 201–02.
- 11. John B. Sawrey Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," in *Memoirs Relating to European and Asiatic Turkey, and other Countries of the East*, ed. Robert Walpole, 2nd ed. (London: 1818), 47.
- 12. Marindin, The Letters of John B. S. Morritt of Rokeby, 201–02.
- 13. Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47.
- 14. Otto Magnus von Stackelberg, *Costumes et usages des peuples de la Grèce moderne* (Paris: Senefelder & Formentin pour Marino, 1828), 11; Leonora Navari, ed., *Greek Costume*, 413–14.
- 15. Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47.
- 16. Antoine-Laurent Castellan, *Moeurs, usages, costumes des Othomans, et abrégé de leur histoire,* vol. 6 (Paris: Nepveu, 1812), Aikaterini Laskaridis Foundation, accessed October 21, 2022, https://eng.travelogues.gr/item.php?view=54204.



- Fâzıl Enderûnlu, "A Woman of Istanbul Wearing High Pattens," (1793) in Sunil Sharma, "The Ottoman Turkish Zenanname" (Book of Women), Asian and African studies blog, November 17, 2016, https://blogs.bl.uk/asian-and-african/2016/11/the-ottoman-turkishzenanname-book-of-women.html#_ftn5, https://a4.typepad.com/6a017ee66ba427970d01 bb09532bec970d-pi.
- 18. Promenade Dress no. 9, 1809, in Rudolph Ackermann, *The Repository of Arts, Literature, Commerce, Manufactures, Fashions, and Politics,* vol. 2 (London: 1809), plate 18.
- 19. Georgina O'Hara Callan, The Thames & Hudson Dictionary of Fashion and Fashion Designers (London: Thames & Hudson World of Art, 2008), 53.
- 20. Angeliki Chatzimichali, *I elliniki laiki foresia* [The Greek folk costume], vol. 2, *Costumes with the kavadi* (Athens: Melissa, 1984), 452.
- 21. Maria Minotou et al., *Ellinikes foresies* [Traditional Greek dresses] (Athens: Historical and Ethnological Society of Greece, 2005), 136–37.
- 22. "[A] portrait of Sultan Murad III (r. 1574–1595), that admittedly dates from a somewhat later period, is striking in both cases, the coats sported closures consisting of jeweled buttons that fitted into slings made of braid and sewn on to the body of the coat." Suraiya Faroqhi, "Introduction, or Why and How One Might Want to Study Ottoman clothes," in *Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity*, ed. Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann (Istanbul: EREN, 2004), 45.
- 23. Hulya Tezcan, "Furs and Skins Owned by the Sultans," in *Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity*, ed. Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann (Istanbul: EREN, 2004), 72.
- 24. Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47; Online English Turkish and Multilingual Dictionary: Seslisozluk, "yelek," accessed November 30, 2020, https://www.seslisozluk.net/yelek-nedir-ne-demek/fbclid=IwAR0wqvbMo1QkrER4Y4p_ T2S8Ec6qHWNxwyItIL9j2NVVXxhvivHfvro5OtU.
- 25. Minotou et al., Ellinikes foresies [Traditional Greek dresses], 42–43, 134–35.
- 26. Marindin, The Letters of John B. S. Morritt of Rokeby, 201–02.
- 27. For example, the term *kontogouni* is mentioned in Stelios Papadopoulos and Chrisostomos Florentis, eds., *Neoelliniko archio E. Monis Ioannou Theologou Patmou: Kimena ya tin techniki ke tin techni* [Modern Greek Archive of the monastery of Ioanis Theologos of Patmos: Texts on Technique and Art] (Athens: ETVA Cultural Center, 1990), 283–85.
- 28. Nadia Macha-Bizoumi, "Amalia Dress: The Invention of a New Costume Tradition in the Service of Greek National Identity," *The Journal of Fashion, Beauty and Style* 5, no. 1 (2012): 65, 70–71, Inter-Disciplinary Press.
- 29. Charlotte Jisourek, "Ottoman Influences in Western dress," in Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity, ed. Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann (Istanbul: EREN, 2004), 241; Lale Görünür, Women's Costume of the Late Ottoman Era: From the Sadberk Hanim Museum Collection (Istanbul: Sadberk Hanim Muzesi, 2010), 35, 295.
- 30. Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47.
- 31. Gown, Victoria and Albert Museum Collections, Textiles and Fashion Collection no. T.217-1968, accessed December 10, 2020, http://collections.vam.ac.uk/item/O13819/gown-unknown/.
- 32. Marindin, The Letters of John B. S. Morritt of Rokeby, 201–02.
- 33. Ibid.; Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47.



- 34. Charlotte Mankey Calasibetta, *Fairchild's Dictionary of Fashion*, 2nd ed. (New York: Fairchild Publications, 1988), 37.
- 35. Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47.
- 36. Jisourek, "Ottoman Influences in Western Dress," 232.
- 37. Faroqhi, "Introduction, or Why and How One Might Want to Study Ottoman Clothes," 24.
- 38. Madeline C. Zilfi, "Whose Laws? Gendering the Ottoman Sumptuary Regime," in *Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity*, ed. Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann (Istanbul: EREN, 2004), 135.
- 39. Morritt, "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47.
- 40. Melissa Leventon, ed., Costume Worldwide: A Historical Sourcebook Featuring the Classic Artworks of Friedrich Hottenroth & Auguste Racinet (London: Thames & Hudson, 2008), 166.
- 41. Kendra Van Cleave and Brooke Welborn, "Very Much the Taste and Various Are the Makes: Reconsidering the Late-Eighteenth Century Robe à la Polonaise," *Dress* 39 (2013): 1, Routledge, Taylor & Francis.
- 42. Ibid., 16.
- 43. Ibid.
- 44. Ibid., 3.
- 45. Ibid., 16.
- 46. Paulina Banas, "Persian Art and the Crafting of Polish Identity," in *The Fascination of Persia*: *The Persian-European Dialogue in Seventeenth-Century Art and Contemporary Art of Teheran*, ed. Axel Langer (Zürich: Scheidegger and Spiess, 2014), 128–30.
- 47. Adam Janienski, "A Savage Magnificence: Ottomanizing Fashion and the Politics of Display in Early Modern East-Central Europe," *Muqarnas, An Annual on the Visual Cultures of the Islamic World* 31 (2014): 195–96, 197.
- 48. Van Cleave and Welborn, "Very Much the Taste and Various Are the Makes," 20.
- 49. Ibid., 8.
- 50. As seen in the catalogue of the saved attires of the late 19th century of the museum of Sadberk Hanim. Lale Görünür, *Women's Costume of the Late Ottoman Era: From the Sadberk Hanim Museum Collection* (Istanbul: Sadberk Hanim Muzesi, 2010), 90–93, 106–11, 118–33.
- 51. Suraiya Faroqhi, "Female Costumes in the Late Fifteenth Century Bursa," in *Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity*, ed. Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann (Istanbul: ER-EN, 2004), 84.
- 52. Hulya Tezcan, "Furs and Skins Owned by the Sultans," in *Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity*, ed. Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann (Istanbul: EREN, 2004), 78.
- 53. "She wore a dark purple pelisse edged with fur, under which was a short vest of white silk, richly embroidered." Hugh William Williams, *Travels in Italy, Greece, and Ionian Islands: In a Series of Letters, Descriptive of Manners, Scenery, and the Fine Arts,* vol. 2 (Edinburgh: Archibald Constable and Co., 1820), 218.
- 54. Von Stackelberg, Costumes et usages des peuples de la Grèce moderne, 11.
- 55. Minotou et al., *Ellinikes foresies* [Traditional Greek dresses], 112–13.
- 56. Female Dress of Mani, Collection of the Historical and Ethnological Society of Greece and the National Historical Museum of Greece, Collection of Dress, 1821 Digital Archive, accessed October 27, 2022, https://1821.digitalarchive.gr/archive/show/art/675.
- 57. Minotou et al., *Ellinikes foresies* [Traditional Greek dresses], 136–37.



- 58. William Turner, Journal of a Tour in the Levant, vol. 1 (London, 1820), 322.
- 59. Sokratis Kougeas, *I gineka sti mesiniaki Mani: Meso prikoon ke alon egrafon (1745–1864)* [Woman in Medieval Mani: Through dowry papers and other documents (1745–1864)] (Athens: Rodakio, 2003), 61–83.
- 60. Faroqhi, "Introduction, or Why and How One Might Want to Study Ottoman Clothes," 44.
- 61. Ibid.
- 62. Ibid., 23.
- 63. Lise Scov and Marie Riegels Melchior, "Research Approaches to the Study of Dress and Fashion," *Creative Encounters Working Papers* 19 (November 2008): 5, Copenhagen Business School.
- 64. Faroqhi, "Introduction, or Why and How One Might Want to Study Ottoman Clothes," 26.
- 65. Ibid., 24–25.
- 66. Ibid., 23.
- 67. Faroqhi, "Female Costumes in the Late Fifteenth Century Bursa," 84.
- 68. John Sibthorp, "Remarks Illustrating Part of the Preceding Journal," in *Memoirs Relating to European and Asiatic Turkey, and other Countries of the East,* ed. Robert Walpole, 2nd ed. (London, 1818), 61.
- 69. "She wore a dark purple pelisse edged with fur, under which was a short vest of white silk, richly embroidered; [...] Behind her stood her mother holding her up; the good old lady's hair was dyed red, the favourite colour of hair in Greece." Williams, *Travels in Italy, Greece, and Ionian Islands*, 218.
- 70. Morritt, "Account of a Journey Through the District of Maina in the Morea," 47.
- 71. Tsigakou, "Greek Costumes in Printed Representations," 29.
- 72. Hulya Tezcan, "The Evaluation of the Sultan's Costume Collection According to the Ottoman Fashion," in Ενδυματολογικά 4, Endyesthai (To Dress): Historical, Sociological and Methodological Approaches, Conference Proceedings (Nafplion: Peloponnesian Folklore Foundation, 2012), 28.
- 73. Angela Jianu, "Women, Fashion, and Europeanization: The Romanian Principalities, 1750– 1830," in *Women in the Ottoman Balkans*, ed. Amila Buturović and Irvin C. Schick (London: Tauris, 2007), 206.
- 74. Georg Simmel, *I moda*, trans. Vasilis Patsoyiannis (Athens: Plethron, 2018), 11; original title: "Die Mode," in *Philosophische Kultur: Gessamelte Essays*, ed. Georg Simmel (Leipzig: 1911).
- 75. Yuniya Kawamura, Fashion-ology: An Introduction to Fashion Studies (Oxford: Berg, 2005), 21.
- 76. Matthew Elliot, "Dress Codes in the Ottoman Empire: The Case of the Franks," in *Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity*, ed. Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann (Istanbul: EREN, 2004), 106–10.



Bibliography

- Banas, Paulina. "Persian Art and the Crafting of Polish Identity." In *The Fascination of Persia: The Persian-European Dialogue in Seventeenth-Century Art and Contemporary Art of Teheran*, edited by Axel Langer, 118–35. Zürich: Scheidegger and Spiess, 2014.
- Calasibetta, Charlotte Mankey. Fairchild's Dictionary of Fashion. 2nd edition. New York: Fairchild Publications, 1988.
- Castellan, Antoine-Laurent. Moeurs, usages, costumes des Othomans, et abrégé de leur histoire, vol.
 6. Paris: Nepveu, 1812. Accessed October 21, 2022. https://eng.travelogues.gr/collection.
 php?view=314.
- Chatzimichali, Angeliki. *I elliniki laiki foresia* [The Greek folk costume], vol. 2, *Costumes with the kavadi*. Athens: Melissa, 1984.
- Elliot, Matthew. "Dress Codes in the Ottoman Empire: The Case of the Franks." In Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity, edited by Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann, 103– 23. Istanbul: EREN, 2004.
- Faroqhi, Suraiya. "Female Costumes in the Late Fifteenth Century Bursa." In Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity, edited by Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann, 81–91. Istanbul: EREN, 2004.
- Faroqhi, Suraiya. and Christoph K. Neumann, eds. Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity. Istanbul: EREN, 2004.
- Female Dress of Mani. Collection of the Historical and Ethnological Society of Greece and the National Historical Museum of Greece, Collection of Dress. 1821 Digital Archive, accessed October 27, 2022. https://1821.digitalarchive.gr/archive/show/art/675.
- Görünür, Lale. Women's Costume of the Late Ottoman Era: From the Sadberk Hanim Museum Collection. Istanbul: Sadberk Hanim Muzesi, 2010.
- Gown. Victoria and Albert Museum Collections, Textiles and Fashion Collection no. T.217-1968. Accessed December 10, 2020. http://collections.vam.ac.uk/item/O13819/gown-unknown/.
- Janienski, Adam. "A Savage Magnificence: Ottomanizing Fashion and the Politics of Display in Early Modern East-Central Europe." *Muqarnas, An Annual on the Visual Cultures of the Islamic World* 31 (2014): 173–205. Brill.
- Jianu, Angela. "Women, Fashion, and Europeanization: The Romanian Principalities, 1750– 1830." In *Women in the Ottoman Balkans*, edited by Amila Buturović and Irvin C. Schick, 201–30. London: Tauris, 2007.
- Jisourek, Charlotte. "Ottoman Influences in Western Dress." In *Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity*, edited by Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann, 231–51. Istanbul: EREN, 2004.
- Kawamura, Yuniya. Fashion-ology: An Introduction to Fashion Studies. Oxford: Berg, 2005.
- Kougeas, Sokratis. I gineka sti mesiniaki Mani: Meso prikoon ke alon egrafon (1745–1864) [Woman in medieval Mani: Through dowry papers and other documents (1745–1864)]. Athens: Rodakio, 2003.



- Leventon, Melissa, ed. Costume Worldwide: A Historical Sourcebook Featuring the Classic Artworks of Friedrich Hottenroth & Auguste Racinet. London: Thames & Hudson, 2008.
- Macha-Bizoumi, Nadia. "Amalia Dress: The Invention of a New Costume Tradition in the Service of Greek National Identity." *The Journal of Fashion, Beauty and Style* 1, no. 1 (2012): 70–71, Inter-Disciplinary Press.
- Marindin, George Eden, ed. The Letters of John B. S. Morritt of Rokeby: Descriptive of Journeys in Europe and Asia Minor in the Years 1794–1796. London: J. Murray, 1914.
- Minotou, Maria, Diana Gagadi, Olga Fakatseli, and Angela Vidali. *Ellinikes foresies* [Traditional Greek dresses]. Athens: Historical and Ethnological Society of Greece, 2005.
- Morritt, John B. Sawrey. "Account of a Journey through the District of Maina in the Morea." In *Memoirs Relating to European and Asiatic Turkey, and Other Countries of the East,* edited by Robert Walpole, 33–59. 2nd edition. London: 1818.
- Navari, Leonora, ed. Greek Costume: Printed Sources, 16th–20th Centuries from the J.D. Koilalous Collection. Athens: Benaki Museum, 2006.
- Niessen, Sandra. "Re-Orienting Fashion Theory." In *The Fashion Reader*, edited by Linda Welters and Abby Lillethun, 150–55. 2nd edition. Oxford: Berg, 2011.
- O'Hara Callan, Georgina. The Thames & Hudson Dictionary of Fashion and Fashion Designers. London: Thames & Hudson World of Art, 2008.
- Papadopoulos, Stelios, and Chrisostomos Florentis, eds. *Neoelliniko archio E. Monis Ioannou Theologou Patmou: Kimena ya tin techniki ke tin techni* [Modern Greek Archive of the monastery of Ioanis Theologos of Patmos: Texts on technique and art]. Athens: ETVA Cultural Center, 1990.
- Payne, Blanche, Geitel Winakor, and Jane Farell-Beck, eds. *Endimatologia: istoria tis endimasias*. Translated by Ruddy Pagida. 2nd edition. Athens: Ion, 2009. Original title: *The History of Costume: From the Ancient Mesopotamians through the Twentieth Century*. 2nd edition. New York: 1992.
- Scov, Lise, and Marie Riegels Melchior. "Research Approaches to the Study of Dress and Fashion." *Creative Encounters Working Papers* 19 (November 2008): 1–18. Copenhagen Business School.
- Sibthorp, John. "Remarks Illustrating Part of the Preceding Journal." In *Memoirs Relating to European and Asiatic Turkey, and other Countries of the East,* edited by Robert Walpole, 60–63. 2nd edition. London: 1818.
- Simmel, Georg. *I moda*. Translated by Vasilis Patsoyiannis. Athens: Plethron, 2018. Original title: "Die Mode." In *Philosophische Kultur: Gesammelte Essays*, edited by Georg Simmel, 29–64. Leipzig: 1911.
- Stackelberg, Otto Magnus von. *Costumes et usages des peuples de la Grèce moderne*. Paris: Senefelder & Formentin pour Marino, 1828.
- Tezcan, Hulya. "Furs and Skins Owned by the Sultans." In Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity, edited by Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann, 63–79. Istanbul: EREN, 2004.
 - ——. "The Evaluation of the Sultan's Costume Collection According to the Ottoman Fashion." In Ενδυματολογικά 4, Endyesthai (To Dress): Historical, Sociological and Methodological Approaches, Conference Proceedings. Nafplion: Peloponnesian Folklore Foundation, 2012.
- Tsigakou, Fani-Maria. "Greek Costumes in Printed Representations: A Dialogue between Fact and Fantasy." In *Greek Costume: Printed Sources, 16th–20th Centuries from the J.D. Koilalous Collection,* edited by Leonora Navari, 21–33. Athens: Benaki Museum, 2006.



Turner, William. Journal of a Tour in the Levant, vol. 1. London: 1820.

- Van Cleave, Kendra, and Brooke Welborn. "Very Much the Taste and Various are the Makes: Reconsidering the Late-Eighteenth Century Robe à la Polonaise." *Dress* 39 (2013): 1–24. Routledge, Taylor & Francis.
- Welters, Linda. "Introduction." In *The Fashion Reader*, edited by Linda Welters and Abby Lillethun. 2nd edition. Oxford: Berg, 2011.

Welters, Linda, and Abby Lillethun, eds. *The Fashion Reader*, 2nd edition. Oxford: Berg, 2011.

Williams, Hugh William. Travels in Italy, Greece, and Ionian Islands: In a Series of Letters, Descriptive of Manners, Scenery, and the Fine Arts, vol. 2. Edinburgh: Archibald Constable and Co., 1820.

Wilson, Elizabeth. Adorned in Dreams: Fashion and Modernity. London: Tauris, 2003.

Zilfi, Madeline C. "Whose Laws? Gendering the Ottoman Sumptuary Regime." In Ottoman Costumes: From Textile to Identity, edited by Suraiya Faroqhi and Christoph K. Neumann, 125– 41. Istanbul: EREN, 2004.



«Χρωματιστά πετράδια» και άλλα ενδυματολογικά στοιχεία κατά τις παραμονές της Ελληνικής Επανάστασης

Το παρόν κείμενο πραγματεύεται τις γυναικείες ενδυματολογικές τάσεις στην προεπαναστατική Ελλάδα, όπως αυτές παρατηρήθηκαν από τον άγγλο ταξιδιώτη και πολιτικό John Bacon Sawrey Morrit, καθώς και τη σύνδεσή τους με τους ευρύτερους κοινωνικούς συσχετισμούς της εποχής. Η παρούσα έρευνα βασίστηκε στην εκτενή ανάλυση της αλληλογραφίας του Morrit, μουσειακών εκθεμάτων μόνιμων και ειδικών εκθέσεων, έργων τέχνης, και περιοδικών έντυπων ενδυματολογικών εκδόσεων της περιόδου. Παρατηρώντας και αναλύοντας τις ιδιαίτερες επιρροές των ενδυματολογικών τάσεων της Ανατολής και της Δύσης στην παραδοσιακή γυναικεία φορεσιά της ευρύτερης περιοχής της Μάνης, η συγγραφέας επιχειρεί να ανασυνθέσει και να αναλύσει την ενδυματολογική πραγματικότητα των αρχών του 19ου αιώνα, όπως αυτή βιώθηκε από τους κατοίκους και τους ταξιδιώτες της περιοχής.